United Nations

A/C.3/54/SR.38

Dicte . Caonaral
—aa—orn rrerer

=7~¥" Officia Records

24 January 2000
English
Original: French

Third Committee

Summary record of the 38th meeting

Held at Headquarters, New York, on Tuesday, 9 November 1999, at 10 am.

Chairman: Mr.Galuska . ...t
later:Ms. Geelan ............ ... i

Contents

Agendaitem 116: Human rights questions (continued)

.................... (Czech Republic)
.......................... (Denmark)

(b) Human rights questions, including alternative approaches for improving the effective
enjoyment of human rights and fundamental freedoms (continued)

(c¢) Human rights situations and reports of special rapporteurs and representatives

(continued)

(d) Comprehensive implementation of and follow-up to the Vienna Declaration and

Programme of Action (continued)

(e) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (continued)

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member of the
delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the Official Records
Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each Committee.

00-24985 (E)



A/C.3/54/SR.38

The meeting was called to order at 10.10 a.m.

Agendaitem 116: Human rights questions (continued)

(b) Human rights questions, including alter native
approaches for improving the effective enjoyment of
human rights and fundamental freedoms (continued)
(A/54/93, 137, 216, 222 and Add.1, 303, 319, 336, 353,
360, 386, 399 and Add. 1, 401, 439 and 491)

(c) Human rightssituationsand reports of special
rapporteur s and representatives (continued)
(A/54/188, 302, A/54/330-S/1999/958, A/54/331-
S/1999/959, A/54/359, 361, 365, 366, 387, A/54/396-
S/1999/1000 and Add.1, A/54/409, 422, 440, A/54/465-
S/1999/1060, A/54/466, 467, A/54/482-S/1999/1076,
A/54/493, 422, 440, and 499; A/C.3/54/3 and 4)

(d) Comprehensiveimplementation of and follow-up to
the Vienna Declar ation and Programme of Action
(continued)

(e) Report of the United Nations High Commissioner for
Human Rights (continued) (A/54/36)

1 The Chairman invited delegations to
consideration of sub-items 116 (b), (c), (d) and (e).

resume

2. Ms. Rasi (Finland), speaking on behalf of the European
Union, the associated countries Bulgaria, Cyprus, the Czech
Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland,
Romania, Slovakiaand Slovenia,and, in addition, | celand, said
that the universality of human rights had been reaffirmed by
the 1993 ViennaWorld Conference on Human Rights, and that
the promotion and protection of human rights were the
responsibility of Governments. The Union called on all
Governments to cooperate fully with United Nations human
rights mechanisms and monitoring bodies, and the special
rapporteurs mustbe allowed freeand unconditional accessto
any countries they wished to visit.

3. TheEuropeanUnion and its member States were guided
by the principles of liberty, democracy, respect for human
rights and fundamental freedoms and the rule of law, which
principles constituted a cornerstonein relations between the
European Union and third countries. Those values were a
constant challengealsoin their own countries,and they were
determined to live up to that challenge.

4. The European Union considered that abolition of the
death penalty contributed to the enhancement of human
dignity and to the progressive development of humanrights,
and it therefore opposed the death penalty in al cases, and
called for amoratorium in cases where the death penalty still
existed. Based on that policy, the European Union had

introduced an initiative on the death penalty at the current
session of the General Assembly. Moreover, the Union was
concerned that widespread violations of the human rights of
women and girls continued to be areality. In addition to the
full enjoyment of human rights by women and girls,the Union
placed particular emphasis on the protection and promotion
of therights of the child. Lastly, the European Unionintended
to submit at the current session, draft resolutions on the
human rights situations in the Democratic Republic of the
Congo, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Iraq and the Sudan.

5. Reviewing the principal areas of current concern, she
reiteratedtheEuropean Union’s position thatthepathtowards
the full integration of the Federal Republic of Yugoslaviainto
the international community would depend upon the
democratization of that country and the respect for its
international commitments and obligations. That included, in
particular, full respect for human rights and the rights of
minorities, reform of the el ectoral system, the establishment of
adialoguewiththe opposition, freedomof expression and the
independence of thejudiciary. The European Union urged the
Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to cooperate with the
International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia.

6. The steps under way in Kosovo to establish aninterim
civil administration were warmly welcomed by the European
Union. However, it strongly condemned the fact that
ethnically-based violence continued. The return of refugees
and displaced persons to their homes, and the assurance of
security for al people in Kosovo, aswell as the bringing to
justice of the perpetrators of atrocities, were high priorities of
the international community.

7. The implementation of the Peace Agreement in Bosnia
andHerzegovinawasprogressing,albeit slowly. The European
Union encouragedthenational authoritiestotakefurther steps
towards establishing the rule of law. It called upon all parties
to implementtheir commitmentsunderthe Dayton accordsand
to facilitate the unrestricted and safe return of minorities.

8. The European Union took note of the adoption by the
Croatian Government of a non-discriminatory reconstruction
programme. However, the progress concerning the return of
refugees still remained slow, and people who wanted to return
home were reportedly subject to harassment. The Unionwas
deeply concerned by Croatia’s failure to cooperate fully with
thelnternational Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia,
and emphasized the importanceitattachedto Croatia’ sfull and
conditional cooperation with the Tribunal.

9. T he European Union was deeply concerned over the
situation in the northern Caucasus and the Russian republic
of Chechnya, and in particular over the plight of innocent
civilians. The Union called upon the Russian Government to



A/C.3/54/SR.38

take al necessary actionto protect the displaced personsfrom
further distress, and stressed that it was of the utmost
importance that the Russian Federation should provide safe
and unhindered accessforhuman aid organizationsto ensure
rapid and efficientdistributionof aid to the displaced persons.

10. The European Union was concerned about the lack of
civil and political rightsin Belarus, and about deficienciesin
its legal and judicial system. The cases of involuntary
disappearances were a cause of concern. It appealed to the
Governmentof Belarusto review legislation whichreducedthe
right to freedom of expression and peaceful assembly and to
resolve constructively the current constitutional dispute
between the Government and the opposition.

11. The European Union reaffirmed that the status quo in
Cyprusremained unacceptable. There was aneed to intensify
effortsto find ajust, comprehensive and lasting solution on
the basis of the relevant Security Council resolutions. The
Union calledforfull respect forhumanrights and fundamental
freedoms of the population of the whole island.

12.  The European Union noted the plans announced by
Turkey to proceed inthe field of human rights and democratic
reforms. The Union encouraged further legislative measures
to be taken for the strengthening of civil and political rights.
It called upon Turkey to fully respect the rule of law and
international standards of humanrights,includingin thefight
against terrorism. It encouraged Turkey to implement the
recommendations made by the Special Rapporteuron torture,
and hoped that Turkey would continue its long-standing
practice not to carry out death sentences.

13. The European Union remained extremely concerned
about the whole human rights situation in Afghanistan. It
calledupon all parties to the conflict to abide by the principles
of international law, including respect for universal human
rightsand humanitarianlaw.Iturgedall Afghan factionsto end
discriminatory policesandtopromoteequal rights, dignity and
access to education, employment and health care for both
women and men. Lastly, it urged the Kabul authorities to
cooperate with United Nations organizations.

14. TheEuropean Union was gravely concerned by recent
developments in Pakistan and condemned the military
takeover. Democracy and the rule of law must be restored
immediately. It was al so concerned about violations of human
rights, including the use of torture, the lack of fair trials,
arbitrary detentions and violations of the basic humanrights
of children, women and minorities. She called on Pakistan to
protect religious minorities, prevent the misuse of blasphemy
laws and abolish the death penalty for blasphemy.

15.  She urged the Governments of India and Pakistan to
return to dialogue on the issue of Kashmir in the spirit of the
talks held earlier in 1999 in Lahore. Access to Kashmir for
international and non-governmental organizations aswell as
forthe Special Rapporteur oftheCommissionon HumanRights
on torture must be improved.

16. She welcomed the renewed commitment made by the
Government of Indiaduring the recent visit of Pope Paul Il to
protect religious minoritiesin that country.

17. She was gravely concerned about the human rights
situation in Sri Lanka. She condemned terrorist attacksin Sri
Lanka on human rights defenders and journalists and called
on all parties to the conflict to make every effort to reach a
negotiated settlement.

18. The human rights situation in China was still far from
meeting international standards and, while political and
economic reforms had led to progress, it was regrettable that
political participation and the rule of law had not progressed
sufficiently. She called upon China to take concrete stepsto
ratify andimplement United Nationsinternational humanrights
instruments. Shewas also concerned by the excessive useof
the death penalty, restrictions on religious freedom, the lack
of the right to free speech and the human rights situation in
Tibet and Xinjiang.

19. There had been no progress in the human rights
situation in Myanmar. She noted the visit of Assistant
Secretary-General de Soto but regretted that cooperation by
the Government with the United Nationswas insufficient. She
called on the Government to allow the Special Rapporteur of
the Commission on Human Rights, onthe situation of human
rights in Myanmar to visit the country without any
preconditions. Repression of the National League for
Democracy and other democratic parties had intensified and
serious human rights violations were continuing.

20. TheEuropean Unionwas following with great attention
the political developmentsin Cambodia, especially since the
national electionsin 1998 and the formation of a new coalition
government. She called upon the Cambodian Government to
ensure that the Khmer Rouge leaders accused of serious
violations of international law would be held accountable for
their actions before an independent tribunal which met all the
guarantees required by international standards and to
cooperate with the United Nations in that matter.

21. Serious human rights violations had occurred in East
Timor during the referendum on the independence of the
province,which had been held in an atmosphere of terror. The
European Union supported the result of the special session
of the Commission on Human Rights on East Timor and



A/C.3/54/SR.38

welcomed the appointment by the High Commissioner for
Human Rights of an international commission of inquiry. That
commission should act quickly to gather and compile
systematic information on violations of human rights and
international humanitarian law, and she called on the
Indonesian authorities to cooperate fully with it.

22.  The European Unionwas deeply concerned by reports
of continuing human rights violations against displaced
personsin West Timor. She urged thelndonesian authorities
to curb the activities of the militia groups and to cooperate
fully with the High Commissioner for Refugees to protect
displaced persons and ensure their return to East Timor.

23. Shewelcomed the decision of the Indonesian People’'s
Consultative Assembly to relinquish all claims to theterritory
and the holding of the firstmulti-party electionsin Indonesia
in45years. Political prisonershadbeenrel eased, considerable
progress had been made in freedom of expression, and some
restrictions on trade unions and political parties had been
lifted. She nevertheless continued to be concerned about
reports of other human rights violations, such as arbitrary
detentions, extrajudicial killings, disappearances and torture.
Furthermore, she encouraged theGovernment of Indonesia to
implement the recommendations of United Nations human
rights mechanisms and to allow the visits by special
rapporteurs which had been requested.

24.  Withregard to Malaysia, the European Union remained
concernedabout continuedrestrictionsontheright of peaceful
assembly and freedomof speech and opinion, among others.
She called on the Government of Malaysia to respect the
findingsof the International Court of Justicein the caseof the
Special Rapporteur of the Commission on Human Rights.

25. Shewelcomedthe progressin the area of humanrights
in the Islamic republic of Iran, duein particular to more open
debateongoodgovernance,humanrights,democracy and the
ruleoflaw. Thehuman rights situation neverthel ess continued
to be a source of concern, particularly discrimination against
Baha'is and other religiouscommunities. She called upon the
Iranian Government to cooperate with United Nationshuman
rights mechanisms and to invitethe Special Representative of
the Commission on Human Rights to visit the country.

26. Inlrag,graveviolationsofinternational humanitarianlaw
werebeingcommitted. The European Unionregretted thetotal
absence of cooperation by the Government of Iraq with the
United Nations Special Rapporteur on the situation of human
rightsinlrag. It reaffirmed that it was theresponsibility of the
Government of Iraq to ensure the well-being of its entire
population and their full enjoyment of all rights and freedoms.
It was concerned about the dire humanitarian situationin Iraq
and appeal ed to al concerned to fulfil their mutual obligations

inthe management of thehumanitarianprogramme established
by Security Council resolution 986 (1995).

27. TheEuropeanUnionwelcomedtheincreasedimportance
which Israel was attaching to respect for human rights as a
means of promoting peace and stability in the whole region.
While welcoming the decision by the Supreme Court of | srael
to baninhumaneinterrogationtechniqueswhich the European
Union considered contrary totheConvention against Torture,
the Union regretted that practices such as torture,
incommunicadodetention,demolition of Pal estinians’ houses,
restrictions on movement and administrative detention
continued.

28. The European Union welcomed the Palestinian
Authority’s recognition of theimportanceof human rightsin
the Middle East peace process. It recognized that the
Authority had set itself the objective of improving the human
rights situation in the territories under its control and
recognized al so the Authority’ s readinessfordialogueon the
issue. It urged the Authority to ensure that the Palestinian
security services complied strictly with the human rights
standards and to reinstate the moratorium on carrying out
death sentences.

29. In Saudi Arabia, the human rights situation remained
cause for concern, and the Union urged the Government of
Saudi Arabiato ensure respect forcivil and politicalrights. The
Union was gravely concerned about the serious viol ations of
women'’s rights and called upon theGovernment to ensure full
equality for women in both law and practice. She encouraged
the Government of Saudi Arabia to guarantee freedoms,
including freedom of religion, expression, association and
assembly, to cooperate fully with international human rights
mechanisms and bodies, and to accede to the international
human rights treaties.

30. Despite some progress, the continued human rights
violations in Rwanda were cause for concern. Recovery after
the genocide, the process of national reconciliation and
democratization,and promotionand protectionof humanrights
and fundamental freedoms were primarily responsibilities of
the Government of Rwanda. The European Union was
followingwithinterestthedevel opments concerningtraditional
justiceas ameans of reducingthe overload onthecourts. She
stressed that the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda
could not work effectively without support from the
international community. Shenoted with satisfaction that the
Government of Rwanda had re-established contact with the
United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights.

31. InBurundi, therecent forced removals of civiliansby the
army were of particularconcern,andtheEuropeanUnioncalled
upon the Government of Burundi to allow those persons to



A/C.3/54/SR.38

returntotheirhomes.A great number of detainedpersonswere
still awaiting trial, the administration of justice lacked
transparency and prison conditionswere extremely poor. The
European Union called upon the Government of Burundi to
refrain from imposing the death penalty.

32. TheUnionwelcomedthesigningof theL usakaCeasefire
Agreement and called for it to be put into effect quickly in
order to resolve the crisisin the Democratic Republic of the
Congo, with respect forhuman rights. At amoment when the
Special Rapporteur had just visited that country, it was
expected that the Government would facilitateanearly visit by
a mission to investigate human rights violations there. The
Governmentshould endimpunity and bring thoseresponsible
for human rights violations to justice. The European Union
welcomedtheappointment of aMinister forHumanRightsand
the establishment of a national commission of inquiry to
investigate, in cooperation with the United Nations, alleged
human rights violationsin 1996 and 1997.

33. Inthe Sudan, despite somepositivedevelopments such
as thereformoftheConstitution and the Government’s efforts
to improve human rights, the continued occurrence of
extrgjudicial and summary executions,forced disappearances,
arbitrary detention,torture,ill-treatmentof civilians, subjection
ofwomen and childrentoforcedlabour,andsevererestrictions
on the freedom of religion remained cause for deep concern.
The European Union called upon both partiesto the civil war
to cooperate in order to reach an agreement to end the long-
standing conflict.

34. The European Unionwelcomedthe new developments
in Algeria and the signs of cooperation by the Government
with international partners. It welcomed also the stated
readiness of the Government to establish a dialogue with the
humanrightsmechanisms and called upon it to cooperate fully
with them. The European Union noted with appreciation
President Bouteflika's invitation to non-governmental
organizationsto visit Algeria. The overall security situation
there had improved and the number of reported human rights
violationshaddecreased, although the human rightssituation
in Algeriaremained cause for concern.

35. InNigeria,aprocessof democratization was under way
and the human rights situation had improved overall. The
European Union applauded the decision by President
Obasanjo and his Government to set up a commission to
investigatehumanrights abuses under the military regime and
encouraged the Nigerian Government to continue promoting
human rights, in particularforthe minoritiesin the Niger delta
area.

36. The European Union called upon all partiesin Sierra
Leoneto implement, speedily and in full, the Peace A greement

of July 1999 between the Government of Sierra L eone and the
Revolutionary United Front/Armed Forces Revolutionary
Council (RUF/AFRC). Itwelcomedtheestablishment of aTruth
and Reconciliation Commission under the Agreement and
stressed that the Commission must function successfully.

37. InEquatorial Guinea, the legislative electionsin March
1999 had been carried out in such a way as to endanger
democratization, and the European Union appealed to the
Government to continue dialogue with all political parties.

38. The European Union had repeatedly condemned
violations of human rights in the context of the conflict
between Eritrea and Ethiopia, including violations against
foreigners and persons belonging to minorities. TheEuropean
Union urged the Governments of Eritrea and Ethiopia to
respect human rights and international humanitarian law, and
commended the efforts of the Organization of Africa Unity
(OAVU) in seeking a peaceful solution to the conflict.

39. The continuing human rights violations committed as
aresult of theconflictin Somalia,in particular in the southern
parts of the country, remained cause for concern, and the
European Union urged al partiesto the conflict to continue
their effortsto find a peaceful settlement, and to respect and
promote human rights.

40. Thehumanrights situationinAngolawas deteriorating,
and the European Union deplored the continuation of the civil
war, for which the Uni&o Nacional para alndependéncia Total
de Angola (UNITA) was primarily responsible. The European
Union appeal ed once again to the Government of Angola and
UNITA to respect human rights, facilitate the flow of
emergency humanitarian assi stance, guarantee the safety and
freedom of movement of humanitarian personnel and ensure
their access to affected populations. The European Union
welcomed theinclusion of human rights issues in the mandate
of the United Nations Office in Angola (UNOA).

41. InCuba,therepressionofdissidentsand members of the
political opposition continued. An open and meaningful
dialogueon all human rightsissues and cooperation withthe
United Nations human rights mechanisms would beinthe best
interests of the entire Cuban society.

42. Thepersistent political and constitutional crisisin Haiti
was disturbing, and it was to be hoped that the country would
soon be able to return to normal political life and the rule of
law. The European Union was confident that the announced
elections would be held in afair and transparent manner.

43. Inthe Caribbean,there was adisquieting trend towards
renewed useofthedeathpenalty.A long-standing moratorium
had just ended in Trinidad and Tobago, and anumber of other
countries had carried out executions since late 1998. The



A/C.3/54/SR.38

European Union al so regretted that some Caribbean countries
had withdrawn fromthe Optional Protocol to the International
Covenanton Civiland Political Rights andhadre-accededwith
areservation to article 1.

44. |n Guatemala,the Government had managed to improve
the human rights situation in the country sincethe signing of
the latest peace agreement. The European Union hoped that,
despitethe disappointingresultsof thereferendumheld in the
spring, constitutional changes and a reform of the judicial
systemwould proceed and that there would be progressinthe
implementation of the Peace Agreements.

45.  The European Union fully supported the efforts of the
new Colombian Government to find a solution to the long-
running internal conflict that touched the lives of all
Colombians. It encouraged the Government to continue to
investigate human rights violations and to bring those
responsible to justice, observing due process of law. The
renewal of the mandate of the Office of the United Nations
High Commissioner for Human Rights in Bogotahad been an
important step. The European Union was following the
developmentsinthe peace negotiationswithgreatinterestand
invited all partiesto work towards a peaceful solution to the
conflict affecting the whole country.

46. Thedecisiontaken by the Peruvian Parliament on 7 July
1999 to withdraw from the jurisdiction of the Inter-American
Court of Human Rights was deeply regrettable,forit deprived
Peruvian citizens of their right to appeal to a supra-national
court,and of the ultimate guaranteethat such arightprovided.
The European Union welcomed the activities of the Special
Commission created by the Government for the purpose of
recommending the releaseof personswho had been wrongly
detained.

47. The European Union noted with interest that the
Mexican Government was tackling the question of impunity
by promoting human rights education for military, judicial and
lawenforcement officials. It hoped that those measures would
lead to full respect for constitutionally guaranteed rights and
help put an end to impunity and serious human rights
violations. It welcomed the visit to Mexico by the Special
Rapporteurs on torture and on extragjudicial, summary and
arbitrary executions and the forthcoming visit of the High
Commissioner for Human Rights.

48. At the World Conference on Human Rights, the
international community had reaffirmed its conviction that all
human rights were universal, indivisible and interdependent.
The concern for human rights was legitimate, and their
promotion was a challenge without limit.

49. Monsignor Martino(Observerforthe Holy See) said that
in a world that for decades had witnessed offenses against
human dignity, the Charter of the United Nations had restored
hope when it had reaffirmed faith “in fundamental human
rights, in the dignity and worth of the human person, in the
equalrights of men and women and of nationslargeand small”.
Later, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, had found
an echo in the Vienna Declaration and Programme of Action,
which had proclaimed that all human rights derived from the
dignity and worth inherent in the human person and that the
human person was the central subject of human rights. That
meant that respect for human rights was possible only when
the dignity of every human being was recognized and
respected.

50. Intheview of the Holy See, any attempt to weaken the
pre-eminence of human dignity in the language of the United
Nationswould be adangerousdeviationfromthevery purpose
of its existence. It should be recalled that human rights were
not conferred by any Government or any institution. They
could only be recognized, promoted and defended by such
bodies.

51. Their source being thedignity of every person, human
rights were by nature universal. That principle of universality
became apoint of contention when certain States arrogated to
themselvestheright to accept or reject human rights underthe
false pretext of national sovereignty. Human rights were also
indivisible. A selective acceptance of only some human rights
might gradually lead to abandonment of them all.

52. On the occasion of the fiftieth anniversary of the
Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the international
community had undertaken to promote awareness of human
rights, and the time had come for concrete action to promote
aculture of humanrights. The Holy See particularly supported
the idea of human rights education. The report of the United
NationsHighCommissionerforHumanRightsonthefollow-up
totheWorld Conference on HumanRights containedanumber
of commendable initiatives along those lines.

53. Mr.Hynes(Canada)said that the twentieth century had
seen the creation of afar-reaching body of human rights law
and an array of mechanisms to promote and protect those
rights. Yet thedaily proceedings of the Security Council were
a reminder of the unbearable suffering and vulnerability of
many of those whom those laws purported to protect. The
often esoteric debate within the United Nations on the
protection of civilians in armed conflicts reflected a tragic
reality for millions throughout the world.

54. The extent of the human rights catastrophe in
Afghanistan could not be measured, and there had been
further atrocities by the Talibanin 1999. Thousands had been



A/C.3/54/SR.38

forcibly displaced and the systematic denial of the rights and
needsof women and girls continued. In that difficult situation,
theUnited Nationseffortsto send civil affairs advisorsto the
country were to be commended.

55. In Angola, where the number of internally displaced
numbered well over two million, attacks were being committed
against civilians and humanitarian aid workers. According to
theUnitedNationsChildren’sFund (UNICEF), Angolawasthe
country where children faced the greatest risk of death,
malnutrition and abuse.Clearly, the sanctionsagainst UNITA,
the principal author of that tragedy, must be better enforced
to bring it back to the peace negotiations.

56. Inthe Sudan, all the partiestothecivil war persistedin
violating civilian rights. The Government, however, bore the
greatest responsibility for the abduction of men, women and
children into slavery, the use of child soldiers and the
indiscriminate bombing of civilian installations. Canada
actively supported the peace process undertaken by the
Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGAD), which
it was co-financing, and urged al parties to accelerate the
process.

57.  The conflict between Eritreaand Ethiopia continued to
plagueciviliansinboth countries,and both Governments were
urged to protect human rights in their territories and to
facilitatethe voluntary return of their nationals. Canadacalled
again on Eritreato fulfil its obligationto givethe International
Committee of theRed Cross (ICRC) accessto prisoners of war.

58. Inthe Great Lakesregion,all armed groupscontinuedto
inflict civilian casualties and to cause major population
displacements. His delegation urged all the signatoriesto the
Lusaka Peace Agreement to abide by their commitments and
to end the ethnic discrimination and the impunity prevailing
in the region.

59.  While terrorism could never be condoned, the fight
against it did not justify the violation of human rights and
humanitarian law. In that regard, urgent attention mustbe paid
to the Russian military operations in Chechnya, where the
massive, disproportionate use of force was causing
considerableciviliancasualtiesandtriggeringlargepopul ation
displacements. Compounding that tragedy, both sides had
provided inadequate access and protection for international
humanitarian organizations.

60. In Colombia, the spiral of violence had resulted in the
internal displacement of more than a million civilians, the
magjority of them children, in the past four years, yet armed
groupscontinuedtocommit flagrantviolationsof humanitarian
law. His Government strongly supported the Colombian
Government’s peace initiatives and was encouraged by the

recent resumption of talks with the Revolutionary Armed
Forces.

61. TheGovernment of Irag continued to rule by terror, and
its refusal to cooperate with the Special Rapporteur of the
Commission on Human Rights cast doubts on its calls for
improved engagement with the international community.

62. For much of thepopulation of the Democratic People’'s
Republic of Korea, civil and political rightsdid not exist and
economic and social rights,includingtherighttodevel opment,
were denied. His delegation encouraged the Government to
releasepolitical prisoners and extend full cooperationto those
humanitarian agencies and non-governmental organizations
prepared to provide urgently needed assistance.

63. Thehuman rights situation in Myanmar had continued
to deteriorate in 1999 and the prospects for any improvement
looked bleak. His delegationreiterated its call to the regime to
begin a dialogue with representatives of the opposition and
minority groups.

64. While there was no single model for democratic
governance, it was hard to see how overthrowing a
democratically elected Government contributed to promoting
human rights and development. The recent Commonwealth
ministerial del egation to Pakistanhadreceivedassurancesthat
the rule of law and human rights would be respected and
electoral processes reformed.

65. Inlran,tensionscontinued between those pressing for
atolerant, law-abiding society and thosewhorejectedchange.
Numerous crucial concerns remained unresolved: lack of
progresson women'’s rights, discrimination againstthe Baha'i
community, death sentences against students and the arrest
of members of the Iranian Jewish community. His delegation
continued to hope for positive movement on those and other
issues andremainedconvincedthatimprovedcooperationwith
the Special Representative of the Commission on Human
Rights would be in the interests of Iran’s Government and
people.

66. Thepastsixmonthshadseensomenotable and positive
developmentsin therestoration of peace, or at least the hope
for peace, in East Timor, Sierra Leone and Kosovo. Despite
violence and intimidation, the people of East Timor had
expressed their political will through the30Augustballot. The
United Nations Transitional Administration would play a
critical role in rebuilding Timorese society. To succeed, it
would require an effective human rights component. His
delegation commended the efforts of the United Nations
MissioninKosovoto establishapluralist,democratic Kosovo.
In a context of continued ethnic tensions, multi-ethnic
institutions,in which Serbswere represented, offered the best



A/C.3/54/SR.38

way to addresstheinterests of the Kosovar Serb community.
Lastly, the peace agreement in Sierra Leone placed a high
premiumon humanrightsinthenational reconciliation process.
His delegation hoped that the establishment of a truth and
reconciliation commission would ensure accountability,
without which there could be no lasting peace.

67. In BosniaandHerzegovina, his delegation again urged
the Government tofully respect the Dayton Agreement and to
adoptthedraft Permanent ElectionsLaw in orderto strengthen
democratic governance. It recalledthat all Governments were
obliged to cooperate fully with the International Tribunal for
theFormerYugoslavia,whosework was crucial to peacein the
Balkanregion. That obligation included the Federal Republic
of Yugoslavia, which was responsible for much human
suffering in Kosovo and for the virtual destruction of Serbia.

68. His Government called on the Haitian authorities to
strengthen their fight against human rights violations and
impunity in Haiti, and urged the restoration of Parliament
through credible elections in keeping with the electoral
calendar. It remained committed tosupportingHaitiin building
effectivejudicial, police and electoral institutions.

69. Nigeria had launched an encouraging transition to
democracy over the past 15 months and the new leadership
must persevere in its efforts to bring sound governance to
Nigeria.

70. Hisdelegation also welcomed recent developmentsin
Indonesia and offered its support for the efforts of the
Government and other Indonesian institutionsto consolidate
human rights gains and to advance reforms. It remained
concerned about incidents of communal and ethnic violence
in many areas and about the response of the security forces
tothoseevents. It therefore welcomed the new Government’s
stated determination to protect religious and ethnic minority
rights and to investigate past human rights violations
throughout Indonesia.

71. His Government dedicated considerable efforts to
cooperating with the United Nations treaty bodies and
extended an invitation to all Commission on Human Rights
mechanisms to make independent assessments of the human
rights situation in Canada. It urged al Member States to do
likewise.

72. Hisdelegation urged swift ratification by China of the
two international human rights covenants. China was
continuing to improve thestandard of living of its people and
had undertaken to limit the abuse of power and to modernize
itslegal system. However, his delegation remained disturbed
by the human rights situation, including intolerance,
constraintsonfreedomof speechandassociationandreligious

freedom, particularly in Tibet, the extensive use of the death
penalty and the harsh sentences imposed on political
dissidents.

73. In Malaysia, his delegation was concerned about
controls on the media and the use of the judicial system to
suppress freedom of opinion and expression, particularly
political expression. It urged the Government to fulfil its
undertaking to give full effect to the judgement of the
International Court of Justice concerning the status of the
Special Rapporteur on the independence of the judiciary.

74. In Cuba, the State’s systematic repression of political
opposition had not abated. While it was encouraging that
Cuba’ s new anti-dissidence legislation had not been applied,
the political message that it sent was still cause for concern.

75.  No Government could abdicateits responsibility to put
in place institutions and policiesto secure all its citizens the
fullest possible enjoyment of all their rights. However, as the
Secretary-General had recently recalled, the common
responsibility and moral obligation of the Member States of
the United Nations went further: to promote respect for
fundamental freedoms and human rights in all parts of the
world.

76.  Mr. Shen Guofang(China)said that,on thethreshold of
the new millennium, the General Assembly’ s consideration of
the human rights issues was of great significance; the
international community had every reason to be proud of its
achievements in that field since the founding of the United
Nations. Democratic forces had defeated fascism, colonialism
and apartheid; new countries had acceded to independence
and had become Members of theOrganization; and the United
Nations had established a number of international human
rights instruments that had enhanced the international
community’s understanding of fundamental freedoms and
rights and had provided guarantees forthe enjoyment of such
freedoms and rights.

77. However, much remained to be done. Racial
discrimination,xenophobia and otherforms of intolerancewere
gaining ground; the gap between developed and devel oping
countries was widening; and more than 10years sincethe end
of the cold war, the mentality prevailing at that time continued
to undermine human rights activities.

78. Statesovereignty was the prerequisitefortheprotection
of human rights, and the Charter of the United Nations gave
thosetwo principles equal status. Any interferencein another
country’sinternal affairs entailing theuseorthreat of forcein
orderto change that country’s social system or values — be
it in the name of protecting human rights or of dealing with a
humanitarian crisis — was a grave violation of the purposes



A/C.3/54/SR.38

and principles of the Charter of the United Nations and the
fundamental norms of international law; recent incidents had
provided many examples of such cases.

79. Recognitionofthediversity of peoples wasanimportant
condition forthe promotion and protection of the universality
of humanrights. All peopleswereentitled to choosethe social
systemand path of developmentbestsuitedtothem. However,
on the pretext of promoting respect for human rights, some
countries were trying to dictate to others how they should
behave, which was unacceptable. The same principle applied
to the issue of the death penalty, which was under
consideration by the Committee.

80. Chinacalled on the United States of America to take
effectivestepsto eliminateracial discrimination,to put anend
to the use of violence and to ensure full respect for human
rightsinits own country.

81. Reform of the human rights mechanisms set up by the
United Nationshad become apressing task in orderto reduce
confrontation,enhancecooperation, promoteeconomic, social
and cultural rights, including the right to development, and
increase the effectiveness of the Commission on Human
Rights. In that context, the international community should
enter into a dialogue on the basis of equality, mutual respect
and understanding so as to ensure the implementation of the
tasks entrusted to it by the Charter of the United Nations.

82. Sinceitsaccession to national independence 50 years
previously, and especially in the 20 years since reform and
openingwere firstintroduced, Chinahad made the realization
of its people’ srights to existenceand development a priority
task. The Government of China had not only managed to feed
and clotheits 1.2 billion people, but had also paid attentionto
promoting and protecting their civil and political rights,
ratifying a number of international human rights instruments
and enabling the people to enjoy human rights and
fundamental freedoms unprecedented in Chinese history.

83. Mr. Agus Sriyono (Indonesia) said that the promotion
and protection of human rights were dependent on the
establishment of a human rights culture. The role of human
rights education was essential in that regard, sinceeducation
made it possible to change attitudes and perceptions.

84. Inthecontext of strengthening national capacitiesinthe
field of human rights, his Government and the Office of the
High Commissioner for Human Rights had concluded in 1998
amemorandum of understanding on technical cooperation in
humanrights. That cooperation covered four broad areas:(a)
the National Plan of Action for the Promotion and Protection
of HumanRightsandthe Strengtheningof National Capacities;
(b) human rights education; (c) national institutions for the

promotion and protection of human rights; and (d) strategies
for the realization of the right to development and economic,
social and cultural rights.

85. One of the important steps already implemented had
been the national training-for-trainers programme in human
rights reporting, which had been held in Jakartain July 1999,
attesting to the Government’ s commitment to promoting and
protecting human rights. The previous year, under the
auspices of the Office of the High Commissioner for Human
Rights, Indonesian officials had participated in a training
programme in Turin, Italy, on reporting under international
human rights treaties. His del egation welcomed therole being
played by international cooperation as a meansof promoting
and protecting human rights.

86. Since globalization had increased the risk of
marginalization among devel oping countries, therewasaneed
for concerted action at the national and international levelsto
mitigate the unfortunate effects of that phenomenon and
ensure the creation of aclimateconduciveto therealization of
the right to development. In that context, the participation of
devel opingcountriesinthedecision-makingprocesson global
macroeconomic policy issues was of paramount importance.

87. In her report (A/54/36), the High Commissioner for
Human Rights referred to theviolation of human rightsin East
Timor. Some clarifications were needed on that issue. There
was nobasis forthe conclusionsin thereport concerning East
Timor, since the investigation of alleged human rights
violations was still in progress. Some international press
reports andaspokesperson forthe Officeforthe Coordination
of Humanitarian Assistance had said that the United Nations
had not found a shred of evidence of the alleged violations.
Moreover, Indonesia, which did not disputethefact that acts
of violence had occurred following the election, had
established afact-finding commission for post-ballot human
rights violations in East Timor and had shown itself willingto
cooperate with the international community initsinquiries.

88. Ms.Al-Hajjaji (LibyanArabJamahiriya)saidthat respect
for human rights and theright of peoples to choosetheir own
political, economic and social system were a part of the
purposes and principles enshrinedinthe Charter of the United
Nations. To impose on a country a model of governance
without taking realities into account could have disastrous
consequences. On the eve of the third millennium, it was
important to strive for recognition of the universality and
indivisibility of human rights, whether they be individual and
collectiverights or political, civil, socio-economic and cultural
rights, including the right to development that had been
recognized at the Vienna Conference but was denied to some
countries.



A/C.3/54/SR.38

89. Human rights were not only synonymous with
democracy, power-sharing or freedomof thought, but also the
struggle against hunger, poverty, underdevelopment and
disease. Although the Vienna Declaration and Programme of
Action underlined the importance of non-selectivity,
impartiality and objectivity in the promotion and protection of
human rights, it was nonethelesstruethat some Statesin the
North very often used their humanitarian aid to exert political
and economic pressures on the States of the South. Some
States posed as defenders of human rightsto gain their own
ends: they talked of human rights violations when their
interestsdid not coincidewith thoseofthecountry concerned,
while closing their eyes to flagrant violations when the
situation was reversed. The only way to promote and protect
humanrightseffectively wasthroughconstructivecooperation
and dialogue between States and the renunciation of
interference in the internal affairs of other States.

90. Despitetheappeal madeat the ViennaConference,some
States had atendency to impose unilateral coercive measures
on other States for economic and political purposes. They
clearly violated the principlesofinternationallaw and theright
to development, regardless of General Assembly and
CommissiononHumanRightsresol utions. Electionmonitoring
and the sending of missions to evaluate the human rights
situation in various countries was not a right to which the
international community was entitled, but aformof assistance
to States that wished to reform their political and legal
structures with regard to protecting human rights.

91. Military interventionundertakenonthepretextof respect
for human rights, but without the support of the United
Nations,underminedthevery foundationsoftheOrganization,
namely, State sovereignty and non-interferenceintheinternal
affairs of States. The International Court of Justice must be
asked to make a pronouncement on the right of humanitarian
intervention that contravened the Charter of the United
Nations and the rules of international law.

92.  Hehoped that the international community would seize
the opportunity offered by the new millennium in order to
renew its undertakings, redouble its efforts and take al the
measures necessary to achieve the goals set forth in the
relevantinternational humanrightsinstrumentsthatformedthe
basis of stability and development for every State.

93. Ms. Gorgieva (The former Yugoslav Republic of
Macedonia) said that the twentieth century, which had seen
a high level of technological development, had also been a
period of great human suffering. It was time to assess the
progressthat had been madewith regard to theprotectionand
promotion of human rights and fundamental freedoms and
make commitments for the new millennium. Thanks to the

10

activities of the United Nationsand of regional organizations,
international humanrights law had devel oped considerably in
the past 50 years and was a point of reference for the
elaborationof national legislation. It was thereforetobehoped
that,in accordancewiththeinitiative of the Secretary-General
and the High Commissioner for Human Rights, the six main
human rights treaties would be universally ratified by 2003.

94. While celebrating the fiftieth anniversary of the
emergence of humanitarian law, however, the world was still
witnessing massive human rights viol ations and true human
catastrophes. Ten years after the adoption of the Convention
on the Rights of the Child, countlesschildrenwere still being
forced to endure the atrocities of war. Action must therefore
be taken to end impunity in those areas and, in particular, to
enact the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court as
soon as possible.

95. The Kosovo crisis and other conflicts worldwide had
demonstratedthat there could beno peacewithout continuous
respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms. While
States had primary responsibility in that regard, the
representatives of civil society and of the international
community also had an important part to play, as had been
affirmed by the Vienna World Conference on Human Rights.

96. In that context, priority should be given to creating
mechanisms to control and monitor the implementation of
accepted humanrightsstandards,orto strengthen the existing
mechanisms.Herdel egationtherefore consideredtheadoption
of the Optional Protocol tothe Convention on the Elimination
of All Forms of Discrimination against Women and the
preparation of anoptional protocol to the Convention Against
Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or
Punishment as a step in the right direction.

97. Her delegation was well-satisfied with the activities
undertaken by the Office of the United Nations High
Commissionerfor Human Rights. It was essential that United
Nations human rights bodies be promoted and strengthened
if the standards applicableinthat areawere to be implemented.
Her delegation al so supported the reform of the Commission
on Human Rights. It hoped that the inter-sessional working
group would successfully balance the interests of States and
complete its mandate in an atmosphere of consensus and that
the Commission on Human Rights would, at its next session,
adopt substantial measures for strengthening Commission
mechanisms.

98. Education was one of the most important aspects of
preventiveaction. She welcomed the activities undertakento
date as part of the United Nations Decade for Human Rights
Education. She also expressed support for the efforts of the
Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human



A/C.3/54/SR.38

Rights to create national action plans for human rights
education. The interdependence of human rights, democracy
and development was gaining increased recognition. In that
respect, her delegation supported the activities of the
independent expert on the right to development.

99. While the Convention on the Rights of the Child had
been almost universally ratified, itsimplementation left much
to be desired. Her delegation therefore supported the efforts
made by the Commission on Human Rights to adopt specific
measuresforthe protection of children and the activitiesofthe
two working groupsresponsible forthepreparationof thetwo
optional protocols to the Convention on the Rights of the
Child.

100. The development of a gender perspective at national
levelwasequally significant, whether achievedthroughUnited
Nations programmes or through regional international
organizations. Special attention should bepaid to the efforts
to combat violence against women and trafficking in women.
Her country was actively involved in Council of Europe
regional projects for the promotion of the status of womenin
Europeansocieties.Women were insufficiently representedin
decision-making positionsin theformer Yugoslav Republic of
Macedonia,asinmostcountries of theregion.In 1998, in order
to overcome that problem, her country’s Parliament had
adopted a declaration on gender equality in the decision-
making process.

101. The issue of the protection of the human rights of
personsbelongingtonational orethnic, religiousandlinguistic
minorities should bemoreeffectively addressed. Theadoption
of the Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to
National or Ethnic,ReligiousandLinguistic Minorities,andthe
work of the Commission on Human Rights, the Sub-
Commission on thePromotionand Protectionof HumanRights
and the Working Group on Minorities were therefore to be
welcomed. The activities undertaken in that area by regional
organi zations, principally by theCouncil of Europe,gaveequal
grounds for satisfaction. Two documents were of particular
importance: the Framework Convention for the Protection of
National Minorities and the European Charter of Regional or
Minority Languages, which were being signed or ratified by
an increasing number of south-eastern European countries.

102. In that context, the role played by the Stability Pact in
the establishment of stable democratic societies and
prosperous economies in south-eastern Europe should be
stressed. She welcomed the fact that the Stability Pact had
made it possible to address the issue of minorities at the
regional ratherthan the national level. Having been aregional
pioneer of the protection and promotion of the basic rights of
minorities, her country would ensure that projects to promote

national minoritiesin theregion were effectively implemented,
and considered that the success of the Stability Pact was
linked to progress in democratization and human rights.

103. Mr. Ingdlfsson (Iceland) said that globalization had
created increased interaction between people of different
beliefs and religions. Reinforced efforts were required to
strengthen tolerance and mutual respect with a view to
preventing conflicts.

104. The manifestations of intolerance and religious
extremism, to which reference was made in the report of the
Special Rapporteur (A/54/386), brought to mind the tragic
plight of women in Afghanistan who were victims of gross
violations, justified by the Taliban on religious grounds. The
international community should stand up forthosewomen, as
they had no means of influencingtheir situation.Humanrights
were universal, and tradition and religion could not be
accepted asanexcusetotoleratetheflagrant violation of those
rights. Again, in spite of the signs of improvement in human
rights in the Islamic Republic of Iran,thesituationoftheBaha'i
community had not improved. He strongly appealed to the
Iranian Government to ensure that the Baha'i minority would
be allowed to practise their religion and enjoy their
fundamental rights.

105. Care should be taken in addressing intolerance and
discrimination: in the case of religious extremism, it was
important nottobrandwhol ereligiouscommunities as fanatics
because of the few extremists within their ranks.

106. Mr.Carranza(Guatemala),commentingonitem 116 (b),
said that the signature of the Comprehensive Agreement on
Human Rights in March 1994 had marked the beginning of a
period of respect for and implementation of human rights in
Guatemala. Before the signing of the Peace Agreements in
1996, there had already been a mechanism for internal human
rights monitoring within the United Nations \érification
Mission in Guatemala (MINUGUA), which had reported
qualitative and quantitative changes, despite the difficult
process of involving the restoration of peace and the
consolidation of democracy after 34 years of internal armed
conflict.

107. In its fifth report, MINUGUA had described those
changes as “tangible progress in fulfilling the commitments
assumedin the Comprehensive Agreement” . Furthermore, the
political will of the Government in the fight agai nst criminality
and impunity had attenuated human rights violations
committed by the security forces and had led toaconsiderable
decline in the number of allegations of torture.

108. Within the framework of the current policy on human
rights, the compensation of victims represented an essential

11



A/C.3/54/SR.38

element of the State’s duty to compensate victims materially
and morally for the harm caused. That principle had already
been incorporated into the Comprehensive Agreement on
Human Rights, on the basis of which the Guatemalan
Governmenthad enacted acongressional decree, theNational
Reconciliation Act. Article 9 of that law stipulated that the
State had a humanitarian duty to assist the victims of human
rights violations committed during internal armed conflict. In
order to consolidate that obligation, the Peace Secretariat in
the Office of the President of the Republic was implementing
a National Peace Fund, identifying the most affected
communities and the priority projects proposed by those
communities.TheSecretariatandthe National Peace Fund had
concluded an agreement with the United States Agency for
International Development, establishing a programme of
assistanceto victims of human rights violations, in particular
the most vulnerable groups such as widows and orphans.

109. Strengthening the rule of law and modernizing State
institutionswerepriorities set by theGuatemalanGovernment.
Some specific commitments madeunderthePeace Agreements
were still to be fully implemented, as revealed in the national
referendum held in 1999, which had not won approval for a
packageof constitutional reforms. However, that did not mean
that the implementation of the Peace Agreements had been
interrupted; rather, other methodsforachievingtheobjectives
of the reforms were being pursued.

110. Just two days earlier, democratic and transparent
elections had been held in Guatemala. All the candidates had
undertaken to continue to show full respect for the Peace
Agreements. Much remained to bedone, but the Government
and themain actorsin civil society had committed themselves
to trying to reach a common objective.

111. Ms Geelan(Denmark),Vice-Chairman,took the Chair.

112. Ms.Enkhtsetseg(Mongolia)saidthatitwasencouraging
to note from both the statement delivered by the United
Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights and her report
(A/54/36) that promoting respect for economic, social and
cultural rights and the right to development were high on her
agenda. Her del egation welcomed the increased collaboration
among therelevant agencies in the United Nations system to
promote the right to development at both country and inter-
institutional levels. However, in order for theimplementation
of the right to development to be effective there was need for
an international convention on theissue.

113. Mongolia also welcomed the forthcoming publication
oftheHuman Devel opment Report 2000 onthetheme“ Human
development and humanrights” withaview to identifyingthe
best practices in promoting humanrightsin order to facilitate

12

human development and exploringinnovative conceptual and
practical approaches towards its implementation.

114. Her delegation was pleased to note a significant
strengthening of the technical cooperation programme
provided by the Office of the High Commissioner for Human
Rights, particularly in the building of national human rights
institutions, the administration of justice, legislative reform,
human rights education and treaty reporting. In collaboration
with the Office of the High Commissioner, the Mongolian
Government was implementing a technical cooperation
programme for the establishment of a national human rights
institution, the promotion of human rights education, prison
reform and the training of legal practitioners and criminal
justice personnel, with an emphasis on international human
rights standards and the provision of expert assistance in
legislative drafting, revision and implementation.

115. The development of regional cooperation for the
protection and promotion of human rights was important.
Mongoliawelcomed the developmentin 1998ofthe Framework
for Regional Technical Cooperation in the Asian and Pacific
region, and was keen to cooperate with the Officeof theHigh
Commissioner in the four main areas of action identified
therein: the devel opment of national plans of actionforhuman
rights; the enhancement and strengthening of nationalhuman
rights institutions; humanrights education; and strategies for
the promotion of economic, social and cultural rights and the
right to development. Her delegation looked forward to the
handbook on national plans of action forhuman rights being
developed by the Office of the High Commissioner.

116. The democratic movement in Mongolia, initiated by a
demonstration for broader rights for individuals on 10
December 1989, had led to the holding of freeand democratic
electionsin 1990, the results of which had put an end to the
70-year rule of the totalitarian communist regime and had
started an era of multi-party democratic changes.

117. Thenew M ongolianConstitution,adoptedon 16 January
1992, guaranteed all human rights and fundamental freedoms,
including freedomof speech and the press, equality beforethe
law and the independence of the judiciary. It could be
concluded that the politicaland legal foundation had been put
in place for devel oping further democratic change. Mongolia
was pursuing political and economic reforms, with the
wholehearted support of the international community.

118. However, the major challengeto democratic progressin
Mongolia was posed by the socio-economic problems
associated with thetransition period from a planned economy
to an efficient market economy promoting the private sector,
which already produced 60 per cent of the country’s GDP. The
reductionof poverty and unemployment,andimprovedaccess



A/C.3/54/SR.38

to education and health care, were viewed as key prioritiesfor
government action.

119. Over the past 10 years, Mongolia had madesignificant
progress in transforming itself into a democratic State.
Democratic institutions had taken firm root. By means of free
andfair elections, afree press and the efforts of variousnon-
governmental organizations, the populace exercised its
sovereign right of participation in national decision-making.
However, much remainedto be done to strengthen fledgeling
democratic institutionsand guaranteerespect for all thesocial
and economic rights of citizens. The celebration on 10
Decemberofthetenthanniversary of thedemocratic movement
in Mongoliawould provide an opportunity of taking stock of
experience gained, and to draw |lessons for a better vision of
the future.

120. The Mongolian delegation felt that the question of the
death penalty was a criminal justice issue falling within the
domestic jurisdiction of Member States. Upon amending the
country’s criminal code in 1993,theM ongolian Parliament had
taken specific measures to reduce the number of crimes
punishable by the death penalty from nine to five. Moreover,
three of those five crimes — namely politically motivated
killings,politically motivated assassi nati onsof representatives
of foreign States, and subversive activities— had never been
invoked, the death penalty only having been applied in
especially cruel and serious cases of homicide; it was not
applied to minors, women or men over 60 years of age.
However, the high rate of serious crimes, owing to problems
duringthecountry’ stransitionperiod, reveal edthat conditions
werenot ripeforan elimination of the death penalty in the near
future.

121. Ms. Ramirez (CostaRica)said that CostaRicawas fully
committed to respecting and promoting human rights and
recognized their wuniversality, indivisibility and
interdependence. All human rights stemmed from the dignity
of the human person and shared the same objective, namely,
to enable the full physical, intellectual and spiritual
development of all inhabitants of the planet. Thoseprinciples
were expressly enshrined in the Universal Declaration of
Human Rights and in the Vienna Declaration and Programme
of Action.

122. Onthethreshold of the new millennium,itwasimportant
to recognize the fact that the fundamental rights of hundreds
of thousands of people were being violated, and to condemn
theintolerance,hatred, inequality and conflictswhichbrought
about such violations. It was a matter of concern that
executions, forced displacements, disappearances, rape and
abductions, together with restrictions on the freedom of
expression and belief and inequalities between men and

women, persisted. Of particular concern,too, were violations
of therightto life, which was a prerequisite forthe enjoyment
of all the otherbasic rights. CostaRica sought to protect that
right at all stages of human lifeand was thus concerned at the
death penalty, euthanasia and abortion. Costa Rica had
abolished the death penalty more than 130 years previously,
thereby clearly indicating its respect forhuman life. The Costa
Rican people’ s greatest failure had been their inability to view
each other as equals and brothers. It was high time the
Universal Declaration of Human Rights was translated into
reality.

123. The year 1999 saw the thirtieth anniversary of the
adoption of the American Convention on Human Rights and
the twentieth anniversary of the establishment of the Inter-
American Court of Human Rights, which had its headquarters
in San José. The Convention set forth the fundamental rights
and freedoms that States agreed to respect, and it established
a monitoring mechanism and system of legal remedies in
respect of violations of fundamental rights with the Inter-
American Commission and Court of Human Rights acting as
intermediaries. Those anniversaries would be commemorated
on 22 November 1999 in CostaRicaat an official ceremony of
the inter-American system.

124. In addition, the Government of Costa Rica would be
organizing a Human Rights Week, which would include a
commemoration of the fiftieth anniversary of the abolition of
the army, the fiftieth anniversary of the Political Constitution
of 1949 and the tenth anniversary of theestablishment of the
Constitutional Chamber of the Supreme Court of Justice. Costa
Ricawas of theview that such celebrations should take place
in a context of genuine political will and commitment, in order
that the provisions of the Universal Declaration of Human
Rights might be effectively applied.

125. Mr. Al-Ethary (Yemen) said that Yemen was in the
process of furthering the democratic process, which focused
on political pluralism, freedom of thepressand the protection
of civil liberties and humanrights. The Constitution of Yemen
stipulated that every citizen had theright to participate in the
economic, social and cultural life of the country.

126. In its efforts to promote respect for the international
human rights conventions and covenantsit had ratified, his
Government had established ahigh-level committee to raise
awareness among the public and parties concerned about
humanrightsissues. The Committee had, inter alia,organized
an information workshop for members of the judiciary and
coordinated its activities with United Nations human rights
bodies and relevant non-governmental organizations, with a
view to monitoring the properimplementation of human rights
instruments.

13



A/C.3/54/SR.38

127. The Government of Yemen encouraged non-
governmental organizationsto promote democratic practices
as part of their work (there were currently more than 2,100
active non-governmental organizations in Yemen) and
recognized theimportance of the individual’srole in building
democracy. He also stressed the importance of cooperation
between public bodies and civil society in advancing the goal
of development.Indeed, the State’ s vision of the role of non-
governmental organizations had evolved to reflect the
requirements of the country and theinternational community.

128. Aware of the limits of all action taken in the field of
human rights, the Government of Yemen commended those
States whichsoughtto promote and protect human rights, but
was surprised that more importance was not being accorded
toeconomic,social, cultural and political rights—whichcould
only berealized once hunger, poverty, disease and illiteracy
were eliminated. Human rights should not, however, be
exploited for political ends.

The meeting rose at 12.15 p.m.

14



